THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

DEC 01 2017

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2017-UP-296 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 19, 2017)
Appellate Case No. 2017-002133

Rivergate Homeowners' Association,

Petitioner

v.

WW&LB Development Company, LLC, RWG, Inc.,
Aiello Associates, Daniels Engineering, Inc.,
Rivergate Homeowners' Association, Rivergate
Homeowners' Association Board of Directors,
Wayne Winderman, individually, Salvatrice
Foran, individually, Gerald Foran,
individually, Marcos Soares Construction,
William C. DeSouza, individually, James Eason

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEALS AND THE CIRCUIT COURT INCORRECTLY INTERPRETED THE RIVERGATE MASTER DEED AS GIVING OWNERS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF REPAIRING THEIR RESPECTIVE UNITS' DRIVEWAYS?

2. AS AN ADDITIONAL OR COUNTER ISSUE, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF SPEEDEE CONCRETE BECAUSE APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?

COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Sanger, a homeowner at Rivergate, filed a complaint on January 12, 2007, which contained allegations regarding the design and construction of Rivergate. (Sanger Complaint) Notably, the complaint included allegations regarding improper driveway slopes and drainage issues. Id. Speedee Concrete, Inc. (incorrectly named Speedy Concrete) was not named as a defendant in that lawsuit. Id. Sanger then filed an Amended Complaint on April 20, 2008 where he named additional subcontractors and design professionals as defendants. (Sanger Amended Complaint). Speedee Concrete, again, was not named as a defendant. Id.

On June 13, 2008, the Appellant filed a complaint against various subcontractors alleging construction defects similar to those alleged in the Sanger lawsuit, including allegations regarding the sidewalks, driveways and drainage system. (Complaint). Speedee Concrete was not named as a defendant in that action. Id.

On March 21, 2009, Appellant filed a First Amended Complaint, and Speedee Concrete was again not named as a defendant. (First Amended Complaint). On March 31, 2009, the Sanger case and the Appellant's case were consolidated. (Order filed March 31, 2009). The case was stricken pursuant to Rule 40(j) of the South Carolina

Rules of Civil Procedure on August 18, 2009. (Order dated August 18, 2009). When the case was restored on April 28, 2010, the Appellant filed a Second Amended Complaint, which named Speedy Concrete (sic) as a defendant for the first time. (Second Amended Complaint). The Second Amended Complaint contained the same allegations regarding the driveways and drainage that were set forth in the Appellant and Sanger's prior Complaints. Id. Speedee Concrete then filed an Answer and asserted various defenses, including the statute of limitations as a defense. (Speedee Answer).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Rivergate subdivision is located in Little River, South Carolina. The developer, WW&LB Development Company, LLC, was a company owned by Wayne Winderman and Luther Bellamy. (Bellamy Dep. 25). Winderman hired AB Consulting to prepare plans and specifications for the site work, including the grading and stormwater management plans. (Drucker Dep. Ex. 3). Chuck's Construction Co. performed the site grading and installed the storm water management system. (Drucker Dep. Ex. 12). Speedee Concrete constructed the concrete parking pads and driveways to the individual units from 2004 to 2007. (Drucker Dep. pp. 68-72 & Speedee Invoice).

On March 16, 2001, the Master Deed for Rivergate Horizontal Property Regime was filed. (Master Deed). The Master Deed defines limited common areas as follows:

Limited common elements as to the term is used herein shall mean and comprise the following: (A) attic space, if any, and **grade level concrete driveways**, patios, or stoops...(emphasis added).

Section IV of the Master Deed, Page 4.

The Master Deed also provides that it is the responsibility of the owner to take care of the maintenance and repair of the limited common elements. (Master Deed, Section XXII) The owner is also responsible for any damages caused by the limited common

areas. (Master Deed, Section XXII). Section XXII of the Master Deed declares as follows:

Every **owner** must perform promptly all maintenance and repair work within his unit and of all limited common elements to which such unit has exclusive use which, if omitted, would affect the condominium in its entirety or any part belonging to other owners, and **shall be expressly responsible for the damages and liability** which his failure to do so may engender (emphasis added).

Article IV of the Master Deed states, "**In all other respects, and except as specifically provided in this Master Deed**, LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS shall be treated as, and included within the definition of the term 'Common Elements.'" (Master Deed, emphasis added).

Additionally, Speedee Concrete advised the developer/general contractor of the project, WW&LB Development, Inc., through its representative Wayne Winderman, that the driveways were too steep. (Dunn dep. p. 69, ln. 2 - p. 70, ln. 8). This conversation took place in the presence of owner representative Jim Dunn in 2004 or 2005. Id.

Furthermore, it is not disputed that the slope of the driveways has been consistent since they were originally poured in 2004 through 2007, and Speedee Concrete's last invoice is dated March 22, 2007 (Speedee Invoice).

ARGUMENT FOR DENYING CERTIORARI

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF SPEEDEE CONCRETE BECAUSE THE APPELLANT DOES NOT HAVE STANDING IN THAT THE MASTER DEED DECLARED DRIVEWAYS TO BE LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS AND THUS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE OWNERS

The Appellant lacks standing to bring a lawsuit against Speedee Concrete for the alleged defects to the driveways because the driveways are defined as limited common elements in the Master Deed (Section IV of the Master Deed) and are thus the responsibility of the individual homeowners, not the homeowner's association (Section XXII of the Master Deed). The Appellant even admits that the driveways are limited common elements pursuant to the Master Deed. Therefore, the Appellant does not have standing to bring a lawsuit regarding alleged defects to the driveways. See Roundtree Villas Association, Inc. v. 4701 Kings Corp., 282 S.C. 415, 421, 321 S.E.2d 46 (1984), in which the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that a homeowners association did not have the authority to bring suit for defects to balconies because they were limited common elements. The court also said that "neither the Act nor the deed imposes upon the Regime the duty to maintain" what the court found to be a limited common area. Such was the finding in this case.

The Appellant cites Article IV of the Master Deed for the proposition that the limited common elements are to be treated as

common elements giving the Appellant standing to bring suit regarding alleged defects with those limited common elements. The referenced section states: "In all other respects, and except as specifically provided in this Master Deed, LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS shall be treated as, and included within the definition of the term 'Common Elements". However, this assertion by the Appellant is misguided in that it ignores the clear and unambiguous language of the clause. The Appellant fails to appreciate the expressed limiting language: "except as specifically provided in this Master Deed..."

Further, any damages created by the slope of the driveways are the responsibility of the owner of the unit to which the driveway is appurtenant. Thus, the Appellant's claims against Speedee Concrete for any damages caused by the slope are misdirected since such damages would be each driveway owner's responsibility. To ignore this conclusion is to torture the plain meaning of the Master Deed. In support of this assertion, the Master Deed provides in Section XXII:

Every **owner** must perform promptly all maintenance and repair work within his unit and of all limited common elements to which such unit has exclusive use which, if omitted, would affect the condominium in its entirety or any part belonging to other owners, and **shall be expressly responsible for the damages and liability** which his failure to do so may engender (emphasis added).

Restrictive Covenants in a master deed are contractual in nature. Watson's Orchard Property Owners Association v.

Property Owners in Watson's Orchard Subdivision: Poe, et. al., 412 S. C. 387, 772 S. E. 2d 528 (Ct. App 2016). When interpreting contracts, the court is to ascertain and give legal effect to the intentions of the parties as expressed in the language of the contract. If a "contract's language is clear and capable of legal construction", the court's function is to interpret its lawful meaning and the intent of the parties as found in the agreement. "A clear and explicit contract must be construed according to the terms the parties have used with the terms to be taken and understood in their plain, ordinary and popular sense." Cullen v. McNeal, 390 S. C. 470, 702 S. E. 2d 378 (Ct. App. 2014). Whether the language of a contract is ambiguous is a question of law for the court. The construction of a clear and unambiguous contract is also a question of law for the court. Wallace v. Day, 390 S. C. 69, 700 S. E. 2d 446 (Ct. App. 2012).

In this case, the Master Deed explicitly declared the driveways are limited common elements, it states the unit owners are responsible for the maintenance of the limited common elements and states the unit owners are responsible for any damages caused by the limited common elements. Thus, it was the individual unit owners that had the duty to bring any action related to the driveways as limited common elements, not the HOA.

II. AS AN ADDITIONAL OR COUNTER ISSUE, THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF SPEEDEE CONCRETE BECAUSE APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

Pursuant to South Carolina Code Sections 15-3-510 and 15-3-530, Appellant's causes of action for negligence, breach of warranty, and breach of contract must be commenced within three years of when the Appellant knew, or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence, that a claim against Speedee Concrete may exist. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-510 and 15-3-530.

Speedee Concrete completed its work on the project by March 22, 2007, the date of Speedee's last invoice. (Speedee Invoice). The homeowners had knowledge of the driveways' slope and the cracking of driveways in 2004 or 2005 (Dunn depo. P. 69, ln. 2 - p. 70, ln. 8). Both are more than three years before Speedee Concrete was named in the Appellant's Second Amended Complaint filed in April, 2010.

"Under the discovery rule, the three-year statute of limitations clock starts ticking on the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct." Holly Woods Ass'n of Residence Owners v. Hiller, 392 S.C. 172, 183, 708 S.E.2d 787, 793 (Ct. App. 2011). "It is not necessary for a party to know the full extent of its alleged damages; it is sufficient for the party to be put on notice of such facts as would lead a person of common knowledge and experience to conclude that

some claim may exist.” Hedgepath v. AT&T, 348 S.C. 340, 355-56, 559 S.E.2d 327, 336 (Ct.App. 2001). “The exercise of reasonable diligence means simply that an injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist.” Snell v. Columbia Gun Exchange, Inc., 276 S.C. 301, 278 S.E.2d 333, 334 (1981).

In this case, the evidence shows that the Appellant was aware of the slope of the driveways and drainage issues as early as 2004. Homeowner Jim Dunn admitted in his deposition that he heard Speedee Concrete tell Wayne Winderman of WW&LB in 2004 or 2005 that the slope of the driveways was too steep. (Dunn depo. P. 69, ln. 2 - p. 70, ln. 8). Furthermore, in May 2005, the homeowners formed the Ad Hoc Committee to address multiple construction issues, including the slope of the driveways. (Dunn Dep. Ex. 21).

The Appellant argues that its claims against Speedee Concrete did not accrue until Drew Wilkie, Appellant’s expert, issued his report on June 18, 2010. That argument is not factually or legally sound. The slope of the individual driveways was immediately known to the purchaser upon arrival to the property. The Appellant did not need to know the full legal extent of the injury and did not need to hire an expert for the statute of limitations to begin to run. (Hedgepath v. AT&T, 348 S.C. 340, 355-56). The legal standard

is that a person of common knowledge and experience would be put on notice that some claim may exist. (Id.) The Appellants had knowledge that a claim may exist in 2004 or 2005 when Jim Dunn heard Speedee Concrete' representative tell Winderman that the driveway slopes were too steep. The Appellants knew that they had a potential claim against Speedee for more than three years before the Second Amended Complaint was filed; therefore, there is no genuine issue of material fact that exists regarding this issue, and the trial court was proper in granting summary judgment.

The equitable tolling argument against Speedee is wholly without merit. First, it was the individual unit owners that had the duty to raise any claims regarding the driveways. Second, the doctrine itself is not applicable to Speedee as a subcontractor.

"[E]quitable tolling is a doctrine that should be used sparingly and only when the interests of justice compel its use." Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Serv. & Rehab Center, 386 S.C. 108, 116, 687 S.E.2d 29 (2009).

Equitable tolling has been deemed available where:

1. Extraordinary circumstances prevented the plaintiff from filing despite his or her diligence.
2. The Plaintiff actively pursued his or her judicial remedies by filing a defective pleading during the statutory period or the claimant has been induced or tricked by the defendant's misconduct into allowing the filing deadline to pass.

3. The Plaintiff, despite all due diligence, is unable to obtain vital information bearing on the existence of his or her claim. Pelzer v. State, 378 SC 516, 662 S.E.2d 618 (Ct.App. 2008)

The Appellant cites Magnolia North Property Owners Association, Inc. v. Heritage Communities, Inc., 397 S.C. 348, 725 S.E.2d 112 (Ct.App. 2012) to support its argument that equitable tolling applies. However, that case is distinguishable from this one. In Magnolia North, the Court held that equitable tolling applied as to toll the statute of limitations against the developer where the developer controlled the homeowner's association and the developer would not have initiated an action against itself. Id. Furthermore, the homeowners were diligent in filing a lawsuit only eight months after assuming control. Id.

In this case, there was nothing to prevent the Appellant from timely filing suit against Speedee. Speedee was never part of the homeowner's association board. Additionally, the Appellant knew the driveway slopes were allegedly too steep, they knew Speedee Concrete constructed the driveways, and they still waited nearly five years to file suit against Speedee after learning of the issues with the driveway slope. Furthermore, there is no evidence Speedee Concrete misled the Appellant. There is no evidence that Speedee did anything to cause the Appellant's delay in naming Speedee as a defendant.

The Appellant cites a letter from Winderman, the developer, stating that he would address the drainage, road, and maintenance issues. Speedee Concrete did not make any representations to the Appellant that it would make repairs. Furthermore, Winderman is not an agent of Speedee and the acts of Winderman cannot at all be attributed to Speedee. Speedee did not cause the delay and did not induce the Appellant to believe that Speedee would make repairs.

CONCLUSION