THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

DEC 06 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2017-UP-296 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 19, 2017)
Appellate Case No.: 2017-002133

Rivergate Homeowners' Association,

Petitioner,

v.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals correctly affirm the Trial Court's finding that Petitioner's claims are barred by the applicable statute of limitations and that the doctrine of equitable tolling is not applicable?
2. Did the Court of Appeals correctly affirm the Trial Court's finding in that the HOA lacked standing to litigate issues concerning the driveways, which are limited common elements?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 12, 2007, Robert Sanger, a Rivergate homeowner, filed a complaint in the Horry County Court of Common Pleas, C.A. No. 07-CP-26-0228. (*Sanger Complaint*, R. pp. 97-117). Sanger, also represented by Petitioner's counsel, asserted various claims relating to the design and construction of the Rivergate subdivision, including, importantly, improper construction of driveways, improper driveway slopes, and deficiencies in the stormwater management system. *Id.* Although Sanger purported to assert a class action on behalf of all Rivergate homeowners, a class was never certified. *Id.* Sanger did not name Respondent AB Consulting Engineers, Inc. ("AB Consulting") as a defendant in that lawsuit. On April 20, 2008, Sanger filed a similar Amended Complaint, but joined several additional subcontractors, installers, and design professionals as named defendants. (*Sanger Amended Complaint*, R. pp. 118-141). Again, Sanger did not join AB Consulting as a defendant. *Id.*

On June 13, 2008, Petitioner Rivergate Homeowners Association filed a Complaint against numerous defendants, alleging claims identical to those asserted in the *Sanger Amended Complaint*. (*Complaint*, R. pp. 142-166). Petitioner did not name AB Consulting as a defendant. Petitioner alleged the same allegations as those asserted by Sanger relating to "improper construction of sidewalks, driveways, and asphalt roadways...improper driveway slopes...and defective storm water management drainage system." (*Id.*; *Sanger Amended Complaint*, R. pp. 118-141).

On March 21, 2009, Petitioner filed its First Amended Complaint which likewise did not join AB Consulting as a defendant and alleged the same defects. (First Amended Complaint, R. pp. 167-187). On March 31, 2009, Petitioner's case was consolidated with the *Sanger* case. (Order filed March 31, 2009, R. pp. 1-3). On August 18, 2009, the case was stricken by agreement of the parties pursuant to Rule 40(j) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (Order dated August 18, 2009, R. pp. 4-5).

By Order dated April 28, 2010, the case was restored and Petitioner was permitted to file a Second Amended Complaint. (Order dated April 28, 2010, R. pp. 6-8). That same day, Petitioner filed its Second Amended Summons and Complaint which for the first time joined AB Consulting as a defendant. (Second Amended Complaint, R. pp. 188-209). The Second Amended Complaint alleged the same defects relating to roadways, driveways, and drainage as had been alleged by both Petitioner and Sanger in their original pleadings. Id. In response to the Second Amended Complaint, AB Consulting filed an Answer and asserted, among other defenses, a defense based upon the statute of limitations. (September 9, 2010 Answer of AB Consulting, R. pp. 229-235). On April 12, 2013, AB Consulting filed a motion for summary judgment. (Motion for Summary Judgment filed April 15, 2013, R. pp. 52-55).

On May 19, 2014, Judge Newman issued an Order granting summary judgment in favor of AB Consulting. Id. On May 28, 2014, Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (May 28, 2014 Motion for Reconsideration, R. pp. 75-83). By order filed on December 10, 2014, Judge Newman denied the motion for reconsideration. (Order filed December 10, 2014, R. pp. 34-38).

On March 2, 2015, Petitioner filed a notice of appeal of the trial court's decision. (March 2, 2015 Notice of Appeal, R. pp. 236-237). On June 7, 2017, oral arguments were heard by the

South Carolina Court of Appeals and, on July 19, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued its decision affirming the decision of the trial court. (Op. No. 2017-UP-296). Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing (Petition for rehearing filed August 14, 2017). On September 22, 2017, the Court of Appeals denied the petition. (Order denying rehearing filed September 22, 2017).

ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that Petitioner's Claims are Barred by the Statute of Limitations and that Equitable Tolling Does not Apply

A. Petitioner's Claims Accrued Before April 28, 2007

As the Court correctly recognized, pursuant to Sections 15-3-510 and 15-3-530(1) of the South Carolina Code, Petitioner's causes of action for negligence, breach of warranty, and breach of contract must be commenced within three years after Petitioner knew, or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence, that some claim against AB Consulting might exist. Dillon Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. Two v. Lewis Sheet Metal Works, Inc., 286 S.C. 207, 218, 332 S.E.2d 555, 561 (Ct. App. 1985), overruled on other grounds, Atlas Food Sys. & Serv., Inc. v. Crane Nat'l Vendors Div. of Unidynamics Corp., 319 S.C. 556, 462 S.E.2d 858 (1995). Likewise, the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act provides: "No action may brought under this article more than three years after discovery of the unlawful conduct which is the subject of the suit." S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-150.

Under South Carolina's discovery rule, the statute of limitations "begins to run from the date when the injury resulting from the wrongful conduct either is discovered or may be discovered by the exercise of reasonable diligence." Cline v. J.E. Faulkner Homes, Inc., 359 S.C. 367, 371, 597 S.E.2d 27, 29 (Ct. App. 2004). As this Court recognized in Snell v. Columbia Gun Exchange, Inc., 276 S.C. 301, 278 S.E.2d 333, 334 (1981), it is not necessary that the plaintiff know the exact legal claim it might assert or the identity of all the possible parties; instead, "[t]he exercise of

reasonable diligence means simply that an injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist.” The test is objective, and the statute of limitations accrues regardless of whether the injured party comprehends the full extent of the injury. See Republic Contracting Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Hwys & Public Transp., 332 S.C. 197, 503 S.E.2d 761 (Ct. App. 1998).

Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C. 360, 468 S.E.2d 645 (1996), is on point in this case. Plaintiff Dean hired a contractor in November 1984 to inspect a crack that she believed had been caused one month previously when Ruscon Corporation began pile driving for construction of the Omni Hotel in Charleston. The following year, Ruscon continued pile driving and Dean observed that the crack had expanded. Id. Six years later in 1991, Dean sued Ruscon. Id. The trial court granted directed verdict in favor of Ruscon and ruled that Dean’s claim accrued in 1984 when she initially discovered the crack. Id. In affirming the decision of the trial court, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that the statute of limitations began to run when Dean first knew of any problem, not when she determined that it might be serious:

Because Dean had notice in November 1984 that she may have a cause of action against Ruscon, there is no need to toll the statute of limitations beyond that date... The fact that Dean may not have comprehended in 1984 that the original crack would expand causing the building to ultimately buckle is immaterial.

Id.

The Dillon County School District No. 2 case is also instructive. There, a school district hired various construction and design professionals to construct the Dillon County High School. Dillon Cnty Sch. Dist. No. 2, 286 S.C. at 207, 332 S.E.2d at 555. Even before construction was completed in January 1971, there were reports of roof leaks. Id. On November 30, 1972, the project architect referred to the leaking roof as a “continual problem” and suggested that the school

board involve the county attorney. Id. Over the next nine years, numerous attempts to remedy the problem failed and the School District filed suit in June 1981. Id. The trial court granted summary judgment against the District. The District argued on appeal that the statute of limitations did not begin to run until 1980 when it learned that its roof was irreparably damaged. Id. This Court affirmed the trial court's decision, concluding that the statute accrued when the District first had notice of leaks.

The fact, however, the School District did not appreciate the full extent of the damage until later is immaterial...we are satisfied that by November, 1972, when the architect for the project referred to the roofing problem as a 'continual problem' and suggested possibly involving the county attorney, the School District either knew or reasonably should have known its problem with the roof was a serious one."

Id.

In this matter, it clear that Petitioner was aware of drainage concerns as early as 2004. The uncontroverted evidence establishes that Winderman, the Rivergate Homeowners' Association, and the homeowners were all well aware of potential drainage issues long before April 28, 2007. As early as March 2004 at Petitioner's annual meeting, the homeowners discussed issues regarding drainage, and Winderman acknowledged the drainage concerns. (Dunn Dep. Ex. 15, R. pp. 584-586). In May 2005, the homeowners formed an Ad Hoc Committee to address multiple issues, including drainage problems. (Dunn Dep. Ex. 21, R. pp. 616-626). Several residents, including Don Miller and Pat Connors, wrote to the Ad Hoc Committee and detailed drainage issues. (Dunn Dep. Ex. 24, R. pp. 671-672). Miller even suggested hiring an engineer to investigate the drainage problem. (Dunn Dep. p. 212-213, R. 539-540). In a July 6, 2005 letter to the Ad Hoc Committee, Winderman promised to address the drainage problems "as quickly as possible". (Dunn Dep. Ex. 21, R. pp. 616-626). Complaints were filed with various governmental agencies long before 2007 complaining of drainage issues.

Petitioner incorrectly argues that its claims did not accrue until its expert Drew Wilkie issued a report on June 18, 2010. Petitioner's argument is not only illogical but also legally defective. Petitioner clearly had knowledge of potential claims against AB Consulting long before June 18, 2010. In fact, it filed its Seconded Amended Complaint two months previously. Accrual does not depend on the expertise of the plaintiff or the hiring of an expert to determine the full extent of the injury. See Republic Contracting Corp., 332 S.C. at 209, 503 S.E.2d at 768 (affirming trial court's grant of summary judgment because the record showed ample evidence to prompt the plaintiff to investigate a possible claim more than three years prior to filing suit).

B. Equitable Tolling Does Not Apply

There is no novel legal issue presented in this case. Since Plaintiff knows that the statute of limitations bars its claim, its argument rests solely upon its contention that somehow its claims are equitably tolled. Equitable tolling was first adopted by this Court in Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Serv. & Rehab. Center, 386 S.C. 108, 687 S.E.2d 29 (2009). In that case, this Court held that the person asserting equitable tolling has the burden of establishing sufficient facts to support that defense. Id. This Court also noted that "equitable tolling typically applies in cases where a litigant was prevented from filing suit because of an extraordinary event beyond his or her control". Id. This Court cautioned that "[e]quitable tolling is a doctrine that should be used sparingly and only when the interests of justice compel its use." Id. Equitable tolling is available where:

- a. Extraordinary circumstances prevented the plaintiff from filing despite due diligence;
- b. The plaintiff actively pursued his remedies by filing a defective pleading during the statutory period or where the plaintiff was induced or tricked by the defendant into allowing the deadline to pass; and
- c. The plaintiff, despite all due diligence, is unable to obtain vital information bearing on the existence of his claim.

Id. at 231-232, 659 S.E.2d at 220-221.

Subsequent cases involving equitable tolling have generally found that the doctrine did not apply. See e.g. American Legion Post 15 v. Horry County, 381 S.C. 576, 674 S.E.2d 181 (Ct. App. 2009) (“In this case, we find no extraordinary circumstances or active misleading by the County to warrant tolling the statutory period of limitations. Nothing prevented the posts from learning of the governing statutes, as we find is required for due diligence.”); Kimmer v. Wright, 396 S.C. 53, 62-63, 719 S.E.2d 265, 270 (Ct. App. 2011) (“Although we are sympathetic to Kimmer’s situation, we are mindful the supreme court cautioned the doctrine of equitable tolling to be used sparingly. We find application of the doctrine is not justified under the circumstance of this case.”).

Petitioner seeks to extend the holding in Magnolia North Property Owners Ass'n. Inc. v. Heritage Communities, Inc., 397 S.C. 348, 725 S.E.2d 112 (Ct. App. 2012). There, a property owners’ association asserted claims against the developer of a condominium complex for construction defects. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s ruling, holding that because the board of the property owners’ association consisted of the defendant developer’s officers until September 9, 2002, equitable tolling should apply. In that regard, the court stated: “We find unpersuasive [the developer’s] claims that an organization they controlled would have initiated an action against itself during this period. Further after the property owners gained control over the POA, they exercised due diligence by filing this action on May 28, 2003, approximately eight months after assuming control.” Id.

AB Consulting completed its services nearly seventeen years ago. All of the reasons why the statute of limitation exists to bar stale claims is demonstrated by this case. See e.g. Pelzer v. State, 378 S.C. 516, 520, 662 S.E.2d 618, 620 (Ct. App. 2008) (“Statutes of limitations embody important public policy considerations in that they stimulate activity, punish negligence, and

promote repose by giving security and stability to human affairs"); McKinney v. CSX Transp., Inc., 298 S.C. 47, 50, 378 S.E.2d 69, 70 (Ct. App. 1989) ("One purpose of a statute of limitations is to relieve the courts of the burden of trying stale claims when a plaintiff has slept on his rights"); Moates v. Bobb, 322 S.C. 172, 176, 470 S.E.2d 402, 404 (Ct. App. 1996) ("Another purpose of a statute of limitations is to protect potential defendants from protracted fear of litigation.").

Magnolia North simply does not apply; AB Consulting did not ever control the homeowners' association. (Gardner Dep. p. 108, R. p. 833). In fact, AB Consulting's work at Rivergate concluded before the homeowners' association even came into existence. (Jan. 17, 2014 Hr'g Tr. 45:3-12; R. p. 282, lines 3-12). There is no evidence that Petitioner made any complaint to or had any contact with AB Consulting before service of its Second Amended Complaint. There is no evidence that AB Consulting ever misled Petitioner in any way. There is no evidence that WW&LB would have refrained from asserting any claims against AB Consulting for its role in the design of Rivergate if WW&LB had believed such claims existed. No extraordinary circumstances exist warranting the imposition of a doctrine which this Court has determined should be used sparingly. There is no logical extension of the doctrine of equitable tolling which applies to these facts. Accordingly, the Petition should be denied.

Accordingly, the application of the statute of limitations in this case furthers both the principle of equity and public policy of South Carolina.

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Held that the HOA Lacks Standing to Litigate Issues Concerning the Driveways, Which are Limited Common Elements.

A homeowners' association formed for the purpose of owning and maintaining common elements of a horizontal property regime lacks standing to bring an action for damages to property that it does not own or manage. Roundtree Villas Ass'n. Inc. v. 4701 Kings Corp., 282 S.C. 415, 417, 321 S.E.2d 46, 47 (1984). Petitioner contends that certain of the concrete driveways which

service individual units are too steep. Petitioner neither owns nor maintains these driveways. Petitioner also does not own the exfiltration drainage system beneath the roads in Rivergate.

Article IV of the Master Deed plainly indicates that “grade-level concrete driveways” are limited common elements. (Master Deed, R. pp. 1103-1160). Article XXII of the Master Deed unmistakably indicates that these concrete driveways are Limited Common Elements and thus are not either owned by or to be maintained by Petitioner, but instead by the owners of the adjacent unit. Id. Article XXII further states that the owners of the adjacent unit “shall be expressly responsible for the damages and liability which his failure to do so may engender.” Id.

Property was conveyed by WW&LB to Petitioner by the Master Deed and the associated amendments. Id. With the limited exception of a portion of Rivergate Lane, WW&LB never transferred the roads to Rivergate. (Amendments to Master Deed). Petitioner’s counsel long ago conceded that not all of Rivergate, including the roads, was conveyed by deed to Rivergate. (Jan. 17, 2014 Hr’g Tr. 108:6-10, R. p. 345, lines 6-10).

Petitioner’s argument is misplaced, Article IV of the Master Deed does not define the driveways as common elements. Article IV provides, “In all other respects, and **except as specifically provided in this Master Deed**, LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS shall be treated as, and included within the definition of the term ‘COMMON ELEMENTS.’” (Master Deed, R. pp. 1103-1160) (emphasis added). An exception is in Article XXII of the Master Deed. Article XXII specifically provides, “Every Owner must perform promptly all maintenance and repair work within his UNIT and of ALL LIMITED COMMON ELEMENTS to which such UNIT has exclusive use...and shall be expressly responsible for the damages and liability which his failure to do so may engender.” (Master Deed, R. pp. 1103-1160). Accordingly, Article XXII specifically provides that all adjacent homeowners must responsibly maintain all nearby limited common